IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

))

))

)

)))

FILED STD J. WHITE

NAY 28 1997

PERRY OMAR BUCKNER,

Appellant,

vs.

~ .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee .

CLENK, SUPPEME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk --

CASE NO. 89,001

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO, 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of four volumes of pleadings and hearings numbered sequentially by the clerk consisting of 808 pages. Appellant will refer to this portion of the record as (\mathbf{R}). The remaining portion of the record consists of seven volumes of transcripts consisting of numerous hearings and Appellant's trial on both guilt and penalty. The trial clerk numbered the 1161 pages sequentially. Appellant will refer to this portion of the record as (\mathbf{T}).

Counsel will refer to Perry Omar Buckner by either "Omar, " "Buckner, " "Appellant," or "the defense. " Appellant will refer to the State of Florida as the "State" or the "prosecution. "

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 1995, the Sumter County Sheriff's Department arrested Perry Omar Buckner, the Appellant, charging him with second-degree murder. (R3-5) On June 23, 1995, a Sumter County grand jury indicted Buckner for the June 3, 1995, first-degree premeditated murder' of Thaddeus Richardson. (R2) On March 14, 1996, the grand jury returned with an amended indictment charging Buckner with the additional crime of shooting into an occupied **conveyance**.² Through counsel, Appellant entered a plea of not guilty and requested a jury trial, (R17)

On February 1, 1996, the trial court granted the motion to withdraw filed by the Public Defender's Office and appointed private counsel to represent the Appellant. (R74-76,97-98) Appellant's trial got off to an abortive start in March, 1996, when, during the middle of jury selection, a key state witness became unavailable due to illness. (T182-87) The State moved for a continuance which was granted without objection. (T182-91) Appellant's trial ultimately began on June 3, 1996, before the Honorable John W. Booth. (T203) At the beginning, Appellant objected to his shackling in leg irons during the trial. The court overruled the objection. (T204)

During jury selection three jurors were excused for cause over Appellant's objections. (T259-64) The peremptory challenges were exercised at the bench outside the presence of Omar Buckner. (T393-400,432-39)

¹ § 782.04(1)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (1995).

² § 790.19, Fla. Stat. (1995).

Defense counsel renewed his request to unshackle Mr. Buckner so that he could view a State's exhibit (a videotape) without exposing his leg irons to the jury. (T48 1-88) The trial court refused to reconsider his position.

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal contending that the evidence supported, at most, second-degree murder. Appellant contended that the State failed to prove the element of premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court ultimately denied the motion. (T785-89)

Appellant presented several witnesses in his case-in-chief and testified in his own defense. (T799-907) The trial court did allow Appellant's shackles removed during his testimony and demonstrations to the jury. (T832-35) Appellant rested his case and renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court again denied. (T907)

During the State's case in rebuttal, the victim's family members who were spectators in the courtroom held up photographs of the victim and his family. This incident ultimately led to a motion for mistrial which the trial court eventually denied. (T945-65,1017-20)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on both counts. (T1102-4; R690-91) The trial court adjudicated Appellant guilty. (T1104; R692-94) The court subsequently filed an amended judgment on August 21, 1996. (R775-76)

A penalty phase commenced on June 10, 1996. (T1107) The State presented some victim impact evidence. (T1 111-34) Appellant presented his case in mitigation. (T1137-66) Following deliberations, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 7-5. (R703; T1225)

Both the State and the defense filed sentencing memorandums. (R726-37,740-48) On

August 21, 1996, the trial court sentenced Perry Omar Buckner to death in Florida's electric chair. The trial court found two aggravating circumstances and four mitigating circumstances. (R762-67) The State prepared a sentencing guidelines scoresheet on the noncapital offense, (R768-69) Appellant scored between 56.25 months and 93.75 months of state prison time. The trial court imposed a consecutive sentence of five years. (R790) The court allowed credit for 444 days previously served. (R770) The trial court denied Appellant's motion for new trial. (R714-15; T1246)

On September 18, 1996, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (R777) The trial court adjudged the Appellant to be insolvent and appointed the Office of the Public Defender, Fifth Judicial Circuit, to perfect the appeal. (R778-79) On September 19, 1996, that office designated the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Circuit, to handle the appeal. (R784-85) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction

Omar Buckner was convicted and sentenced to death for the shooting of Thaddeus Richardson outside the Royal Palm Bar in the small town of Royal, Florida located in Sumter County. The Royal Palm Bar seems to attract a group of citizens from the lower socioeconomic strata of our society. The shooting occurred in the parking lot shortly after the 2:00 a.m. closing of the club. Therefore, many people were present and either heard or saw some portion of the incident or the aftermath. Unfortunately, the witnesses' perceptions and memories varied greatly. Most of the eyewitnesses were under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs during the shooting. When it came time to testify at trial, many of the eyewitnesses were incarcerated due to various pending criminal charges. Additionally, many of the eyewitnesses provided statements to the police that contradicted their trial testimony. As a result, many of the eyewitnesses were substantially impeached. Despite the aforementioned difficulties, counsel will attempt to provide this Court with a complete, comprehensible, and fair statement of the pertinent facts.

The Royal Palm Bar

The Appellant, Omar Buckner, was an eighteen-year-old boy who seemed to enjoy the company of many young women. On the night of the shooting, Ramona "Joy" Monroe, a former girlfriend of Omar's, loaned her car to her cousin Kareem. Kareem drove Joy's two brothers (Robert and Cleve), a friend named Kojak, and Omar (the Appellant) for a night out on the town. (T606-7,684-85) The group first went to the Shady Oaks Club. When it closed

5

at midnight, they proceeded to the Royal Palm Bar. (T607,836-39) Throughout the evening, the group smoked marijuana, drank beer, and socialized with others. (T607,836-39,841) Thaddeus Richardson, the victim, was also at the Royal Palm Bar that night. (T559-61) Tasha Hampton, one of Omar Buckner's girlfriends, was there too. (T559-61) Some people saw Tasha dancing with Thaddeus Richardson that night.³ (T102-7,559-61) One patron claimed that he saw Omar slap Tasha at the club that evening. ⁴ (T102-7)

Katrina Denise Williams and her cousin, Shawn Mills, were at the Royal Palm that night. Around closing time, the pair walked outside and visited with Thaddeus Richardson who was sitting in his car in the parking lot. Katrina sat inside Richardson's car and the trio talked for a few minutes. (T582-88) Katrina and Shawn then decided to leave and climbed into Shawn Mill's truck which was parked nearby. As Mills backed into the roadway, the pair heard shots being fired. Katrina Williams looked up and saw Omar Buckner standing outside Richardson's car with his hands in a "certain position," The girls could not see a gun. (T588-93,649-70) Williams saw Richardson get out of his car. He appeared to stumble or stagger around to the other side of the car. (T593-95) Williams then heard two more shots and saw two flashes from Omar's outstretched hand.⁵ (T593-95)

When Shawn Mills heard the shots, she looked up and also saw Richardson outside of

³ Tasha denied this. (T800-2)

⁴ However, Jerry Lamar Williams, a/k/a Kojak, admitted that he had been snorting cocaine, smoking marijuana, smoking crack, and drinking alcohol throughout the night. He was very high, the highest in his group, and explained that he was "stuck on stupid," (R102-7) Additionally, Tasha denied any argument. (T813-14,818)

⁵ Williams consumed about a quart of beer before witnessing the shooting. (T598-99)

the car. She watched as he ran around the back of his car. She then saw Omar and Richardson on the other (passenger) side of Richardson's car. She did not see any shots fired. The two girls got out of the truck and ran to the scene. Mills noticed Omar run by her headed in the opposite direction, (T649-70)

Reginald David, a/k/a "Bobo," actually saw the shooting." He claimed to have seen Omar walk up to Richardson's car and ask, "What's up?" Bobo noticed that Omar had a gun in his hand as he stood next to Richardson's car while Richardson sat in the driver's seat. ⁷ Richardson replied, "Just let me go. Let me leave." (T562) Omar then shot twice as Richardson sat in the car. (T562) As the shooting began, Tasha Hampton ran toward Omar and Richardson. Bobo grabbed her around the waist and held her away from the fray. Tasha kept repeating, "Stop!"⁸ (T565) After the first two shots, Richardson got out of his car. Omar then shot Richardson two or three more times, (T562) Richardson staggered toward Bobo looking for help. (T567) Bobo reached out his hand, but Richardson fell to the ground, mortally wounded. Bobo used his cellular telephone to call 911 for help. (T564)

Bobo's trial testimony differed dramatically from his statements to police shortly after

⁶ Bobo admitted he'd been drinking. He established he'd quaffed two quarts of beer that night. (T559) Bobo also revealed his three prior felony convictions and four <u>pending</u> misdemeanor charges. Bobo maintained that he expected no concessions from the State for his testimony even though he faced jail time. (T568-70,577) In fact, Omar's prosecutor had agreed to notify Bobo's misdemeanor prosecutor of Bobo's status as a material witness in "an important murder case. " (T569-70; R662)

 $^{^{7}}$ Bobo conceded on cross-examination that he looked up only when he heard the first shot fired. (T580)

⁸ Tasha denied witnessing the shooting, saying she only heard about it later from others. (T802-3)

the shooting. Three days after the incident, Bobo told the prosecutor that he had not seen Thaddeus Richardson inside the club at all that night. (T571-72) Bobo also told authorities that the two men began tussling when Omar grabbed Richardson and threw him to the ground. (T572-73) Bobo insisted that his trial testimony was "the truth." (T573)

Garlinda Lewis⁹ also claimed to witness the shooting that night. ¹⁰ Garlinda was in the Royal Palm parking lot socializing and dealing drugs. (T704,711) Garlinda had just completed a sale of narcotics to Bobo and Pat Rushing. ¹¹ She got into her car and was sitting in the passenger's seat. (T710-12) Garlinda spotted Omar as he walked across the parking lot in the direction of the club, ¹² (T712) Omar walked quickly up to Richardson's car, Garlinda heard Richardson say, "Let me explain. " (T715) Omar replied, "[I]t wasn't nothing he could say, fuck nigger, ain't nothing you can explain to me. Ain't nothing you can tell me." (T716)

¹⁰ Garlinda Lewis had been at the club earlier but went home shortly after midnight with her then-boyfriend, Chris Sanders. Garlinda was mad at Sanders for snorting cocaine that evening, so she left and returned to the Royal Palm Bar while Sanders took a bath. Sanders clearly doubted Garlinda's truthfulness when she claimed to witness the shooting. (T620-49,700-704)

 11 Garlinda denied that she was using drugs that evening, insisting that she was only selling. (R7 11)

⁹ Garlinda admitted to twenty-nine felony convictions. (T727) Additionally, at the time of her testimony, she had a pending charge of grand theft in Marion County. (T727-28) Additionally, when Garlinda Lewis first approached the State with her eyewitness account, her new husband had two pending felony charges and one misdemeanor. (T728,758,774-75) Garlinda insisted that the prosecutor's favorable treatment of her husband's charges had no relationship to her testimony at Omar's trial. (T757-63,775-78) The State's official position was that her husband's prosecutor was informed of her cooperation. Additionally, the State agreed to take no position as to the disposition of his cases. (R662)

¹² Garlinda Lewis denied any bias toward Omar. (T697-98) Others said that Omar and Garlinda had a fight earlier in the day about a refrigerator. (T613-14,617-18,692-93,698-700, 714)

After this exchange, Ornar and Richardson began to tussle as Richardson sat behind the wheel with the car door open, (T716) Garlinda observed Omar's hand go up and then down. She heard two shots. ¹³ (T716-18) Garlinda admitted that she never saw a gun during the entire incident. (T749)

Garlinda then claimed that Omar walked a short distant into a nearby crowd. (T718) Meanwhile, Richardson stumbled out of his car and staggered to the passenger side where he fell to the ground. ¹⁴ Richardson was seeking help from the surrounding bystanders. (T718) Garlinda claimed to hear Omar utter, "You motherfucker, you ain't had enough." (T719) Garlinda saw Tasha in the crowd being restrained by Bobo. Tasha said, "Don't do that. Don't kill him. Don't shoot him." (T720-21) Garlinda could see Omar standing in Richardson's general vicinity on the other side of the car. (T723-25) Garlinda then heard two or three more shots. (T721) Shortly after the shooting, everyone scattered for cover. (T725) Garlinda fled the scene in her car. (T725) Garlinda had a pending charge of grand theft in Marion County (also in the Fifth Circuit) at the time of her trial testimony, (T727-28)

Paramedics subsequently arrived and pronounced Thaddeus Richardson dead at the scene. (T471-73) He was lying on his side "sort of face down." (T474) Richardson died as a result of blood loss and internal lacerations caused by five small caliber bullet wounds. (T532-34) Four of the wounds were to the front of Richardson's chest while the other wound

¹³ When the first shot rang out, Garlinda ducked for cover and heard, but did not see, the second shot. (T739)

¹⁴ When Richardson staggered and fell on the passenger side of his car, Garlinda could hear but no longer see Richardson. (T723)

was located at the base of the back of the neck. (T516-40) The bullet entrance wound to the posterior portion of the neck showed powder fragments indicating that the gun's muzzle was withing a few inches of the skin when fired. (T523-24) One of the bullets injured the jugular vein. The blood loss from this wound would have cause Richardson's unconsciousness before "too long." (T534) The doctor estimated that Richardson could have remained conscious approximately four to five minutes after the infliction of the wounds. (T534) Prior to unconsciousness, the wounds would have been fairly painful. (T534-35) Richardson had a few superficial wounds also. There was swelling around his right eye which could have been caused by a fall onto the ground, but this was not the probable cause. (T519-20) The medical examiner opined that the bruised eye was much more likely the product of a punch rather than the result of falling to the ground. (T540)

After a couple of days in seclusion with friends and relatives, Omar Buckner made arrangements through his family to turn himself into the police on Monday morning. (T485-86,672-82,849-50,987) Prior to turning himself in, Omar told his uncle that the confrontation with Richardson began when Richardson was "mooshing him or pushing him in the face and they locked up or something. And that some kind of way he thought the guy reached for a gun or something like that. . . .I remember the gun part, but I don't remember if they tied up with the gun in his arm, or did he reach for a gun or what." (T679) Following his arrest, Omar told police that he dropped the gun at the scene. (T486) Authorities never were able to locate the weapon. (T491) Neither the police nor the medical examiner conducted a "gunshot residue/paraffin test" on the victim. The test, which was available, would have determined if Thaddeus Richardson fired a gun before his own death. (T491-92,541)

Omar Buckner's Testimonv

Omar Buckner readily admitted that he was at the Royal Palm Bar that night. He and his friends were smoking marijuana that evening and were feeling its effects. (T836-39) Omar saw Tasha at the club and briefly spoke to her. (T839-40) Omar and Tasha denied arguing that night. (T813-14,818,860) In fact, Omar had made plans that evening to meet Teensie, a new girlfriend, at a motel later that night. (T841-42)

When the bar closed, Omar was walking around the parked cars outside the club in order to avoid a large puddle in the middle of the parking lot. In taking that path, Omar ended up walking right in back of Thaddeus Richardson's car. Richardson was backing up in Omar's direction, so Omar slapped the trunk of the car several times to warn Richardson that he was in his path. (T842-43) Richardson stopped his car, and Omar approached the driver's window. When Omar explained that Richardson almost hit him, Richardson became belligerent saying, "Fuck you." (T843) The pair exchanged further profanities and Omar threw his hands up in the air. He then noticed Richardson reaching down inside the car and retrieving a handgun. Omar rushed the car and a struggle ensued over possession of the gun. (T844-45) The first shot sped harmlessly through the air. (T851) The next two shots occurred while the two were struggling for the gun. (T851) Richardson eventually got out of his car and the struggle continued. Omar got possession of the gun near the back of the car. Richardson then rushed him, Without aiming, Omar shot the gun three or four more times until he ran out of bullets. (T845-52) He then dropped the gun and fled.

Omar Buckner had never been in such dire straits. (T849) He was scared. (T850) He had not meant to kill Thaddeus Richardson. (T853) He had nothing against the man. (T850) He fled the scene and ultimately ended up at a motel in Ocala before finally surrendering voluntarily at his parents' home in Wildwood. (T849,853) <u>State's Rebuttal</u>

In rebuttal, the State presented evidence that Thaddeus Richardson did not have a reputation as a violent man. (T919-27,967-79) Additionally, no one saw a gun in Richardson's car that day, although no one looked for one either. (T921-22,930) Penalty Phase -- State's Evidence

The only evidence presented by the State at the penalty phase consisted of "victim impact evidence. " (T111 l-l 134) Thaddeus Richardson's father, twin brother, and **godbrother**¹⁵ told the jury what a unique, wonderful person Thaddeus Richardson was. He was musically inclined and was a hard working individual. (T1114-15,1124-26,113 1-34) He was a person who liked to laugh and have fun. (T1123-24) Thaddeus respected his parents. (T1126) He was also a very generous person. (T1130)

Penalty Phase -- Mitigation Evidence

Omar Buckner was born on July 9, 1976, in Brooklyn, New York. (T1157) For the first seven or eight years of his life, Omar lived in the Bedford-Stuyvesant neighborhood on Bernard Avenue in Brooklyn. (T1158) During his initial tender years, Omar witnessed a large quantity of drug trafficking in a very rough neighborhood. (T1158)

Omar was very close emotionally to his mother. After overdosing on the prescription

¹⁵ A tiny portion of the State's case included the godbrother's eyewitness account of the shooting, Shortly after the shooting, he denied seeing anything. (T1166) After the guilty verdict, he claimed to see the shooting. His version did not differ dramatically from others who testified at trial. (T1116-22)

medication at age ten, Omar's mother sent him to live with his grandparents. The mother was attempting to teach Omar a lesson. However, the doctor criticized the family strategy. Omar describes the situation as "very upsetting and troubling." (T1148) His grandparents eventually moved to Florida with Omar, leaving his mother behind in Brooklyn. This was very hard on the child. (T1148-49) Omar's grades in school were very poor. (T1159) He struggled to finish the tenth grade before dropping out of school altogether. (T1159-60) Omar was baptized at the First Baptist Church on Green Avenue in Brooklyn. (T1160) He attended that church on a regular basis with his mother while living with her. (T1160)

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