FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

AUG 25 1997

CLERK, SUPPORT COURT te standing Charles

CASE NO. 89,001

Appellant,

PERRY OMAR BUCKNER,

vs.

. .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

v. State, 426 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (in which the defendants had killed their victims under unknown circumstances and/or without any witnesses to the murder). These cases are all inapposite. There were witnesses to this shooting, and we do know the circumstances of the killing. Buckner did not fire a single shot--he shot the victim five times. The victim had not previously beaten or threatened Buckner, and Buckner had no reason to fear him. There is no evidence that the victim tried to take Buckner's gun during a struggle (Buckner himself testified that he had tried to take the victim's gun), and the State's evidence demonstrates clearly that the last three shots, at least, were not fired during any struggle.

Buckner obtained the murder weapon in advance, went to the victim's car, verbally accosted him, and then shot the victim while the latter sought a chance to explain. It is the State's contention that the first two shots were premeditated. But even assuming, arguendo, that Buckner fired the first two shots without premeditation, he had ample time to reflect on the consequences of his actions between the first two shots and the final three. Buckner had left the immediate scene after the first two shots, and the victim obviously posed no further threat to him (even assuming that he ever did). Instead of leaving well enough alone, however, Buckner returned and deliberately and ruthlessly resumed his attack on the mortally-wounded victim as the latter begged for help. This

25

÷

found <u>heightened</u> premeditation under court has similar circumstances. See, e.a., Walls v. Stat-e, 641 So.2d 381, 387 (Fla. 1994) (heightened premeditation found where defendant left one victim, weapon in hand, and returned to another victim; at point when defendant decided to return to second victim, defendant "obviously had formed a 'prearranged design' to kill); Bonifav v. State, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996) (evidence that, after shooting victim twice, defendant cursed victim as victim begged for his life and then shot victim twice more "exhibited deliberate heightened premeditation ruthlessness, which supports the requirement"); Foster v. State, 654 So.2d 112, 115 (Fla. 1995) (it was "particularly telling" that, after rendering victim helpless, defendant stabbed him again when he realized the victim was still alive; defendant had "ample time" to reflect on his actions and their consequences); Damren v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S262 (Fla. May 8, 1997) (CCP upheld where, after defendant struck blow which eliminated any resistance on part of victim, defendant resumed attack after listening to victim plead for mercy). In light of these cases, Buckner's argument that the evidence was insufficient even to establish <u>simple</u> premeditation is without merit. The evidence supports Buckner's conviction for premeditated murder.

ISSUE II

BUCKNER WAS NOT INVOLUNTARILY ABSENT FROM ANY PROCEEDINGS, AND HE HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL ANY ISSUE OF HIS BEING SHACKLED AT TRIAL

Buckner makes two related claims here: first, that he was not personally present at bench conferences and that his absence during these bench conferences was not shown to be voluntary; and second, that he was in leg irons during trial with the result that he was unable to watch a videotape of the crime scene without revealing to the jury that he was fettered. The State will address Buckner's two subclaims in order.

The alleged Coney violation. Buckner prefaces his Α. argument here with an observation that, just before the jury voir dire examination began, his trial counsel complained about Buckner being in leg irons. An examination of the transcript--in fact, of that portion of the transcript which Buckner quotes in his brief-shows that trial counsel's only stated concern was whether or not Buckner had to remain seated when the judge or jury entered the Implicitly, counsel was concerned that the jury might courtroom. rude if he alone remained think Buckner seated in such circumstances. Trial counsel did not, however, object to Buckner's being shackled, nor even express concern that the jury would observe the leq irons if Buckner rose. On the contrary, trial counsel thought that the jury would not see the leg irons. The trial court satisfied trial counsel's only expressed concerns when

27
the court gave Buckner permission to rise with everyone else (T 204).

As noted in Buckner's brief, bench conferences occurred during the jury selection and at intervals throughout the trial. Buckner remained in the courtroom, seated at counsel table, while all of these bench conferences were conducted. During the initial bench conferences, challenges for cause and excusals for hardship were discussed. In subsequent bench conferences, peremptory challenges were exercised. Finally, at trial, bench conferences were conducted concerning objections to evidence and other matters.

Buckner acknowledges that any possible application of the rule of <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), regarding the defendant's presence, not just in the courtroom, but at the immediate site of the bench conferences, is limited essentially to the exercise of peremptory challenges. Initial Brief of Appellant at 27-28. <u>See Wright v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 298, 300-01 (Fla. 1996) (<u>Coney</u>'s holding that the "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised," has no application to excusals for hardship). Although Buckner provides transcript citations to numerous bench conferences occurring throughout the trial, his complaint is limited (apparently) to the fact that "he was not present at the bench during the exercise of peremptory challenges." Initial Brief of Appellant at 27. The State has three responses to this claim;

First, trial counsel failed to preserve any <u>Coney</u> issue. Second, <u>Coney</u> has been superseded by rule so that the physical presence requirement is satisfied if the defendant is in the courtroom and has the opportunity to be heard through counsel. Third, even if the issue is preserved, and even if <u>Coney</u>, rather than the new rule, applies to Buckner's trial, the record sufficiently shows that Buckner waived his presence at bench conferences and was satisfied with the procedure; thus, there was no <u>Coney</u> error.

As Buckner acknowledges, "[p]rior to the exercise of any peremptory challenges, defense counsel explained to Omar that he had a constitutional right to be present at the bench conferences." Initial Brief of Appellant at 26. However, noting that Buckner's presence at bench conferences would be "somewhat cumbersome," defense counsel recommended to Buckner that he waive that right. Counsel asked Buckner if it would be "all right" for counsel to leave Buckner at counsel table during bench conferences. Buckner answered, "Yes." (T 320-21).

Immediately following the first round of the exercise of peremptory challenges (T 393-98), the prosecutor stated: "Your Honor, maybe we should also reflect on the record--I know that we talked about it previously--that counsel has had ample opportunity in each break in the discussion to consult with the Defendant, and that the Defendant agrees to that procedure, and in fact, that is what's been taking place now." Defense counsel responded, "That's

fine, Your Honor." (T 400). Then, following the final round of the exercise of peremptory challenges (T 432-440), the prosecutor stated: "I think the record should also reflect that counsel has had an opportunity to discuss these challenges with the Defendant during the break, and he's satisfied with the procedure." Defense counsel responded, "That's correct." (T 439).

The State's first contention is that no Coney issue has been preserved. In Gibson v. State, 661 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1995), the appellant had argued that the trial court (a) violated his right to be present with counsel during the challenging of jurors by conducting the challenge procedure at a bench conference and (b) violated his right to assistance of counsel by denying defense counsel's request to consult with appellant before exercising peremptory challenges. This Court held in Gibson that the alleged error had not been preserved because "no objection to the court's procedure was ever made." Id. at 291. Buckner, however, cites Brower V. State, 684 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), for the proposition that violating a defendant's right to be present at the time of peremptory challenges is fundamental error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. The State acknowledges that Brower appears to hold just what Buckner says it does. However, although the Brower court attempted to distinguish Gibson, the State would contend that Brower is inconsistent with Gibson, with

<u>Cones</u> e l f , and with this Court's subsequent adoption of a rule superseding (and, in effect, overruling) <u>Conev</u>.

Nothing in this Court's Coney opinion specifically states that a defendant's absence from a bench conference during which peremptory challenges are exercised is fundamental error. See Hill v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D484, D485 (Fla. 2d DCA, February 21, 1997) (Altenbernd, J., concurring) (noting the removal of a sentence in the original release of <u>Conev</u> which had suggested that a defendant need not or cannot preserve this issue at trial). Moreover, any notion that a mere <u>Conev</u> violation is fundamental error is inconsistent with this Court's refusal to apply Conev. retroactively (e.g., Bovett v. State, 688 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1996)), and with this Court's subsequent adoption of an amendment to Rule 3.180, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, which "supersedes" Conev and defines 'presence" of the defendant to make it clear that, so long as the defendant is in the courtroom and has a meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel, he is "present." Rmendments to the Floridac Rules of Criminal ure, 685 So.2d 1253, 1254, 1259 (Fla. 1996). ¹⁰

¹⁰ This Court emphasized in <u>Boyett</u> that it had found error in <u>Coney</u> in large part because the State had conceded error, stating: "It was incorrect for us to accept the State's concession of error." This observation, while not controlling on the issue, certainly implies that nothing in <u>Coney</u> involves fundamental error.

This case does not involve a defendant's actual absence from the courtroom during the exercise of peremptory challenges. A defendant's absence from the courtroom might amount to fundamental error, if it occurs during a critical stage of the proceedings and if the defendant has not, by conduct or otherwise, waived his right to be present. Buckner, however, was not absent from the proceedings; he was present in the courtroom during the exercise of peremptory challenges and had ample opportunity to consult with counsel. He merely did not go to the bench with counsel. His absence from the immediate site of the bench conference during the exercise of peremptory challenges--if error at all--was not fundamental error that can be raised for the first time on appeal.

2

Because neither Buckner nor his trial counsel objected to the procedure for exercising peremptory challenges, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. <u>Gibson v, State, supra</u>.

As its second contention, the State would urge that, even if the issue is preserved, it is without merit for reason that the <u>Conev</u> rule has been superseded. Buckner contends that, because he was tried after <u>Conev</u> became final, but before this Court adopted its new rule defining "presence," he 'falls within the <u>Coney</u> window." Initial Brief of Appellant at 27. He cites no authority, however, for the proposition that he can obtain a new trial on the basis of a procedural right that defendants no longer have, and that Buckner himself would not have at any retrial of this case.

Although this Court set January 1, 1997, as the effective date of the amendment to Rule 3.180, 685 So.2d at 1255, nothing in the opinion announces that the new definition of "presence" is to be given prospective application, or limits its application to those cases tried after January 1, 1997.¹¹ It now is obviously <u>after</u> January 1, 1997, the amendment is in effect, and Buckner's appeal is pending; therefore, the State would contend that the present Rule 3.180 (c), defining "presence," applies to this appeal. "[T]he law to be applied in this case is the law that was in effect at the time of the appeal Smith v. State. 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), <u>limited by Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n. 4 (Fla. 1994) (Smith read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all nonfinal cases unless this Court says otherwise), cert denied, , 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995)." Domberg v. U.S. State, 661 So.2d 285, 287 (Fla. 1995). Accord, Lowe v. Price, 437 So.2d 142, 144 (Fla. 1983) ("Decisional law and rules in effect at the time an appeal is decided govern the case even if there has been a change since time of trial."); Dougan v. State, 470 So.2d 697 fn. 2 (Fla. 1985) ("[A]s a general rule, the law in effect at the time of an appeal is the law that should be applied.").

¹¹ <u>Compare</u> new Rule 3.851 (c), which is specifically stated to apply "only to rule 3.850 motions that have not been ruled on as of January 1, 1997. <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal</u> <u>Procedure, supra,</u> 685 So.2d at 1254, 1272.

The requirement of "presence," then, is satisfied if Buckner was "physically in attendance for the courtroom proceeding, and ha[d] a meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel on the issues being discussed." Rule 3.180. Buckner's appellate counsel that trial "counsel never refuted the prosecutor's concedes statements on the record that defense counsel had conferred with Omar prior to the exercise of peremptory challenges at the bench." Indeed, as appellate counsel acknowledges, trial counsel not only failed to refute the prosecutor's statements, he "affirmatively" agreed with the prosecutor that he and Buckner had conferred: Initial Brief of Appellant at 29. The record clearly demonstrates, then, that Buckner was "present" during the exercise of peremptory challenges under Rule 3.180. Thus, there was no violation of Buckner's right to be "present" during the exercise of peremptory challenges.

As its final contention, the State would argue that even if the new rule does not apply here, Buckner nevertheless waived his <u>Toney</u> right ito participlate in the bench conferences. s e l advised him that he had the right to attend the bench conferences and asked Buckner if it was "all right" if he remained at counsel table. Buckner answered in the affirmative. Trial counsel reported to the court that Buckner had waived his right to attend bench conferences. <u>Coney</u> explicitly allows the defendant to "waive" his right to attend bench conferences and "exercise

34

ţ

constructive presence through counsel." 653 So.2d at 1013. Although Conev does not say how much of an inquiry by the court is "proper," the State would contend that in this case the inquiry was sufficient, See United States v. Gaanon, 470 U.S. 522, 529, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 (1985) (per curiam) ("failure by a criminal defendant to invoke his right to be present under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 43 which he knows is taking place between the judge and a juror in chambers constitutes a valid waiver of that right"). Even if the inquiry was insufficient, however, under precedent from the Third and First District Courts of Appeal, as Buckner concedes, his trial counsel's responses would demonstrate not only that any Coney error was invited (and therefore not preserved for appeal), but also that any Conev error was harmless. Initial Brief of Appellant at 29 (citing Williams v. State, 687 So.2d 858 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) and Meija v. State, 675 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)). For each and all of the foregoing reasons, Buckner has demonstrated no reversible error here.

B. <u>The shackling issue</u>. As noted above, when court convened at 10:30 am at the outset of trial, before prospective jurors entered the courtroom, Buckner was wearing leg irons. Defense counsel and the court referred to this fact while discussing whether or not Buckner could rise when the court and/or the jury entered the courtroom:

35

MR. HARRISON: Your Honor, I'm concerned about it that he has to stay seated. He should be able to rise when the Judge comes in or rise when the jury comes in. He ought to **be** like everybody else. I don't think they'll see his leg irons.

THE COURT: I don't care. That will be all right, he can rise.

MR. HARRISON: Just set [sic] back far enough so that you can get up, Omar.

THE COURT: If he does anything to expose his leg irons to the jury, that's on him.

MR. HARRISON: Yes, sir.

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